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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Plaintiffs/Appellants Robert-John:Foti, Joe Neufeld and Ken Augustine
(“Appellants”) timely appeal the district cowrt’s February 2, 2004 judgment in
favor of the Defendants. (CR 35, 41.)Y The February 2, 2004, judgment was
entered February 3, 2004, and Appellants filed a timely motion for reconsideration
of the judgment on February 17, 2005. The district court denied the motion for
reconsideration on May 9, 2005. Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal on May _
25, 2005. See Fed. R. App. P. 4(a); Historical Research v. Cabral, 80 F.3d 377,
379 (Sth Cir. 1996) (filing of a timely motion for reconsi(ieration tolls time fof
filing notice of appeal). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the district court’s judgment in favor of the United States
Marshals Service and the F ederal Protective Sérvioe must be affirmed because
Appellants have not demonstrated an applicable waiver of sovereign immunity.

II. Whether the district court’s judgment in favor of the individual

defendants must be affirmed because they each are entitled to qualified immunity.

v CR refers to the Clerk’s Record. ER refers to the
Plaintiff/Appellant’s Excerpts of Record. AOB refers to the Appellants’ Opening
Brief.



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A{;Jpellants are Robert-John:Foti, Joe Neufeld and Ken Augustine. (ER 30 at
1.¥) They filed a complaint on June 25, 2004 and a First Amended Complaint on
November 9, 2004 alleging their rights under the United States Constitution and
certain federal criminal codes were violated when they were detained and
otherwise preventéd from entering the Federal Building at 450 Golden Gate
Avenue in San Francisco. (ER 30 at 3-4.) Generally, Appellants assert that the
United States Constitution prohibits the government from requiring them to show
government-issued identification as a condition of entering a federal building with
a courthouse. (AOB at2.) Appellants named as d;afcndants the United Statcs
Marshals Service (“USMS?), the Federal Protective Services (“FPS”), unknown
officers of the USMS and FPS and U.S. Deputy Marshal McHugh. (ER 8,30 at 1.)

Tﬁlc district court dismissed the First Amended Complaint. (ER 11.) As for
the USNiS and the FPS, the district court found that plaintiffs failed to exhaust

available administrative remedies and therefore could not bring their lawsuit

¥ ER 30 is the first page of Appellant’s 30-page First Amended
Complaint, document number 14 in the Clerk’s Record. Appellants’ Excerpts of
Record is not paginated; accordingly, for ease of reference, the entire First
Amended Complaint is referred to herein as ER 30 and page references are given
according to the pagination in the document. Simularly, the district court’s order
granting defendants’ motion to dismiss (CR 35) begins on page 11 of the Excerpts
and is referred to herein in its entirety as ER 11 with page references.
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pursuant to the Federal Tort Claims Act (“FTCA”). (ER 11 at 6-8.) The district
court also concluded Appellants failed to identify an applicable waiver of |
sovereign immunity. (See ER 11 at7.) As to the individual defendants, the district
coﬁrt found that the complaint failed to allege facts which would establish that any
of Appellants’ constitutional \rights were violated. (ER 11'at 10.) The district court
also found that the USMS and other federal officers properly exercised their
authorityl under federal regulations to require identification of persons entering
federal buildings that contain courthouses. (ER 11 at 12-13.)
Appellants moved the district court for reconsideration of the judgment on

' Februaryi 17, 2005. (ER 9.) Appellants argued that the district court committed
manifest errors of law and that the judgment resulte‘d in manifest injustice. (See ER
28.) The district court denied the motion for reconsideration finding that
Appellants were merely seeking to reargue points made in opposition to the motion
to dismiss. (ER 28-29.) Foti, Neufeld and Augustine appeal.
/77
Iy
Iy

117

/11



STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. THE USMS AND THE FPS ARE CHARGED WITH PROVIDING

PROTECTION FOR THE FEDERAL COURTHOUSE AT 450

GOLDEN GATE AVENUE

The Constitution provides that “Congress shall have power to dispose of and
make all needful rules and regulations respecting the territory or other property of
the United|States.” U.S. Const,, art. [V, § 3. Congress has authorized the USMS
to “provide for the security . . . of the United States District Courts,” and to
~ “provide for the personal protection of federal jurists, court officers, witnesses and
other[s] . | 7 28 US.C. § 566(a), (e)(1)(A). Similarly, Congress has authorized
the Department of Homeland Security (of which FPS is a component agency) to
“prescribe regulations necessary for the protection and administration of property
owned or foccupied by the Federal Government and persons on the property” in
consultation with General Services Administration (“GSA™). 40 U.S.C.
§ 13 15(0):(i); see also 41 C.F.R. Part 102-74, Subpart C (regulations governing
conduct op and admission to federal property). |

Inc,iuded in such regulations is the requirement that the agencies must
“[e]nsure,i' when property or a portion thereof is closed to the public, that admission

to the property, or the affected portion, is restricted to authorized persons who must

register upon entry to the property and must, when requested, display Government



or other identifying credentials to Federal police officers or other authorized
individua:ls when entering, leaving or while on the property.” 41 C.F.R. § 102.74-
375 (g) (emphases added).

Pursuant to these provisions, the USMS and the FPS through federal .
officers, iicluding defendant McHugh, enforced the provisions of 41 C.F.R.
§ 102.74-375(c).

II. APPELLANTS SEEK TO ENTER FEDERAL COURTHOUSES
WITHOUT PRESENTING IDENTIFICATION

Plaintiffs are Robert-T ohn:Foti, Joe Neufeld and Ken Augustine. (ER 30.)
They ﬁleé a complaint on June 25, 2004 and a First Amended Complaint on
November 9, 2004 alleging their rights under the United States Constitution and
certain federal criminal codes were violated when they were detained and
otherwise|prevented from entering the Federal Building at 450 Golden Gate
Avenue mI San Francisco. (ER 7, &, 30 at 2-4.) Generally, plaintiffs assert that the
requirement to show government-issued identification as a condition of entering a
federal building containing a courthouse violates the United States Constitution.
(See ER 30 at 4-5.)

Appellants allege that on May 4, 2004, Foti, Neufeld, Augustine, and a
fourth person (Peter Clark Dougherty) wrote a letter to the USMS asking for an

"administrative hearing" regarding the policy of requiring that everyone entering
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the building show a form of state-issued identification. (ER 30, Attachment 1.)
Appellants|claim they received no response to the letter. Appellants allege that
then, on seyen occasions, they either were precluded from entering the Federal
Building or required to enter with escorts in order to attend hearings or visit the
clerk’s office as follows:

On May 20, 2004, Neufeld attempted to enter the Federal Building to file a
lawsuit. (ER 30, Attachment 2.) Neufeld initially was refused admittance to the
building because he had no identification, but one of the court security officers
eventually escorted him to the clerk’s office. (ER 30, Attachment 2.) Neufeld then
filed the co;;lrnplaint in Neufeld v. United States Postal Service, C-02-2434 WHA.
(ER 30, Attachment 2.)

The next day, Foti, Neufeld, and Augustine attempted to enter the Federal
Building to attend a hearing in Foti v. County of San Mateo, C-00-4783 SI, a civil
case in which only Foti was a party. (ER 30, at 3.) None of the Appellants
produced id‘!entiﬁcation and the security officers refused to allow them to enter the
building. | (ER 30, at--3.) Foti claims th;at défendant Officer McHugh placed his arm
in a “wristlock control hold."* (ER 30, at 8.) Foti further asserts Officer McHugh
~ forced him out of the building and into the street, and compelled him to remain

 there, smrm.imded by other officers. (ER 30, at 8.) Foti later was accompanied by a



clerk and ipermitted to enter the building to attend his hearing. Neufeld and
Au’gustipffa were not, on that occasion, permitted to enter. (ER 30, at 9.)

On June 25, 2004, Foti filed the original complaint in this action. (ER 6.)
Accordjn,'g to tﬁe First Amended Complaint, Foti was refused admittance when he
attemptegii to enter the Federal Building to file the papers because he would not
produce ;‘identiﬁcation. (ER 30, at 11.) Appellants allege that on this occasion, Foti
was not escorted to the clerk's office, and that his papers were filed instead by a
person with identification. (ER 30, at 11.)

On July 9, 2004, Foti and Aungustine again attempted to enter the Federal
Building without identification. (ER 30, at 10.) On this occasion, Appellants
alleged they were attempting to attend a hearing but did not specify the case. They
were denied admission because they failed to produce identification. (ER 30, at 10-
11.)

ﬁppellants allege that on September 10, 2004, Foti attempted to enter to
F ederal’ Building to obtain subpoenas for discovery in case No. C-00-4783 SI. (ER
30, at I”l.) He was denied access to the building because he had no identification
-' (or refu!sed to produce identification). (ER 30, at 11.)

J;preﬂants allege that on September 24, 2004, Foti again attempted to enter

the F ed:eral Building to attend a hearing in case No. C-00-4783 SI. He was denied



access to ;the building because he had no identification (or refused to produce
identiﬁca:tion). (ER 30, at 11.) Plaintiffs claim that no one would escort Fotito the
courtroongl. (ER30,at11.)

Api)eﬂants allege that on November 4, 2004, Foti and Augustine attempted
to enter tl}e Federal Building to attend a hearing in case No. C-00-4783 SI. (ER
30, at 12.) Foti was a party to the lawsuit and Augustine was there only to observe.
(ER 30, at 12.) They both were dénied access to the building because they would

ot produfce identification. (ER 30, at 12.) Appellants allege that on this occasion,

no one would escort Foti and Augustine to the courtroom. (ER 30, at 12.)

ITL. APiPELLAN TS SUED TWO AGENCIES AND AN UNSPECIFIED
NU‘MBER OF INDIVIDUAL OFFICERS INVOLVED WITH
ENFORCING THE RULES REGARDING ENTRY INTO FEDERAL
BUFLDINGS
Ap;l)ellaﬁts filed a First Amended Complaint on November 9, 2004. (See ER

8; ER 30_.)I They named as defendants the USMS, the FPS, unknown officers of the

USMS and FPS and U.S. Deputy Marshal McHugh. (ER30at1.) Asa

jurisdictignal basis for the lawsuit, Appellants cited 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332 and

1343, 42 U.S.C. § 1986 (for violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983), various amendments

to the United States Constitution and Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of the

Bureau offNarcotics, 403 U.S. 388 (1971). (ER 30 at 2.) Appellants also stated

“this court has pendent jurisdiction for any State law claims.” (ER 30 at 2.)
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Apgellants alleged forty-six causes of action, asserting similar claims as to
each of the seven incidents described above.” (ER 30.) Appellants alleged
common léw tort claims for assault and battery, false arrest and imprisonment, and
kidnaping;; claims of violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1509 (obstruction of justice); and
claims of \'lriolations of their First, Fourth, Fifth, Thirteenth, and Fourteenth
Amendment rights. (ER 30 at 29.) The First Amended Complaint essentially
asserts Appellants were subjected to the following: 1) denial of freedom of
association and denial of the right to petition for redress of grievances, in violation
of the Firs’? Amendment; 2) false arrest and imprisonment and unlawful search, in
violation of the Fourth Amendment; 3) denial of due process, in violation of the
Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments; and 4) involuntary servitude, in violation of the
Thirteenth iAmendment. _

IV, TH¢ DISTRICT COURT DISMISSED APPELLANTS’ COMPLAINT

The District Court granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss the First Amended
Comp].aipt.; The disf,rict court first conéluded that the claims ‘against the USMS and

the FPS must be dismissed. (ER 11 at 6-8.) The district court concluded it had no

¥ As noted by the district court, it is not clear whether Appellants are
claiming violations of their rights in connection with an incident on June 25, or
July 25, or 'looth. (ER 11 at4,n. 3.)



jurisdiction over the tort claims against the agencies because Appellants did not
first exhaust their administrative remedies before filing the lawsuit. (ER 11 at 6.)
Further, the district court concluded the constitutional claims against the agencies
must be dismissed becau;e Appellants could identify no waiver of sovereign
immunity Ipermitting the filing of a lawsuit against the federal government for
constitutiqpal claims. (ER 11 at 7-8.) The district court further concluded that
Appellants were not authoriéed under the obstruction of justice statute to bring a
Jawsuit ag%xinst the federal government for damages or injunctive relief. (ER 11 at
8.)

The!district court also dismissed the claims against the mdividual
defendants. The district court analyzed whether the individuals were entitled to
qualified immunity under the two-part test established in Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S.
194, 202 (:2001). (ER 11 at 9.) The district court concluded that Appellants failed
to meet their burden under the first prong, of alleging to establish that their
constitutio;nz.tl rights were violated. (ER 11 at10-11.)

A-s fbr the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment claims, the district court pointed
out that Appellants “[did] not allege that Officer McHugh and the "unnamed
officers" prevented them from filing a lawsuit or from presenting their grievances

to the oour'F.” (ER 11 at 10.) The court further pointed out that Appellants only

10



complained that they could not physically attend a hearing in a case in which one
of them isja party. (ER 11 at 10.) Under the facts alleged, the district court
concluded, Appellants were not denied court access nor have they alleged facts that
establish that Officer McHugh or the "unnamed defendants" deprived them of life,
(iberty, oréproperty without process of law. (ER 1 at 11.) The court therefore
concluded the officers were entitled to qualified immunity with respect to these
claims.

As for the First Amendment claims, the district court noted that Foti is the
only one of the three Appellants who was also a plaintiff in the action pending

before Judge Illston and therefore he was not prevented from "associating” with

others who were there to petition for redress from grievances. (ER 11 at 11.)

Further, the district court concluded Neufeld and Augustine cannot claim that they
were prevenied from petitioning for redress from grievances in connection with
Foti's trips to the courthouse to attend hearings in his own case, as they were not
there In any capacity as litigants. (ER 11 at 11.) Further, the district court
conclud-edg that with respect to the claim of denial of court access, none of the
Appellant$ were able to establish that they were prevented from associating to
petition the court for redress, as they were able to petition the court just as

effectively on paper. (ER 11 at11.)

11



With respect to the claim under the Thirteenth Amendment, the district court
concluded ithat the requirement that Appellants be accompanied by an escort into
the courts did not amount to involuntary servitude in violation of the Thirteenth
Amendment. (ER 11 at 12.)

The district court noted that Appellants argument that the government
officers violated their “Fourth Amendment rights by restricting their freedom of
movement,: by not allowing them to proceed into the Federal Building, by
surrounding them on the street and holding them there for a significant amount of
time, and by demanding that they provide state-issued identification without a
reasonable-suspicion of crime.” (ER 11 at 10.) The district court rej ected these
arguments, stating Appellants “Do not state a claim of constitutional violation in
any of theilr ... causes of action.” (ER 11 at 10.) The district court noted
(1) Appellants” “access to the Federal Building was restricted because they chose
not to cooperate with the security requirements established by the Department of
Homeland Security” (CR 20- 21) and (2) Appellants have not “alleged facts that
establish that Officer McHugh or the “annamed defendants” deprived them of life,
liberty, or ﬁroperty without process of law.” (ER 11 at 11.)

The district court went on to address the Appellants’ contention that the

Govemmerilt cannot legitimately impose a requirement that individuals entering

12




federal property show state-issued identification. In this regard, the district court
concluded that the allegations by Api)ellants did not establish that the security
measures established and implemented Administrative Office of the Coutts, the
USMS and FPS were improper. (ER 11 at 12.) Instead, the district court,
concluded, “security officers can legitimately require that anyone entering the
Federal Building show identification.” (ER 11 at 13.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The dismissal of each of Appellants’ claims should be affirmed.

The claims against the agencies simply are not viable. Appellants have not
exhausted their administrative remedies with respect to non-constitutional claims
and make no argumenf why they shoﬁld be excused from this fundamental
precondition for filing suit. Appellants also cannot point to an applicable waiver of
sovereign immunity with respect to their constitutional claims against the federal

govcrnmént agencies. Accordingly, the claims against the agencies were properly

€

dismissed.
Similarly, the claims against the individual defendants were properly

dismissed. The district court properly found that Appellants cannot satisfy the

first prong of the Saucier analysis because the officers did not violate any of their

constitutional rights. The security measures in place at the courts did not preclude

13



A_ppellanps from having access to the courts and reasonably placed only a minimal
imposition on the general public. Moreover, even if, arguendo, this Court were to
conclude that the requirement to show identification was unconstitutional, this
right was not clearly established at the time -that Appellants were required to show
identification. Accordingly, Appellants cannot demonstrate they have met the
second prong of the Saucier analysis.

For these reasons, the district court’s judgment should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews de novo the district court’s order granting a motion to
dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. See Skokomish Indian Tribe v.
United States, 332 F.3d 551, 556 (9th Cir. 2003).
II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED IT HAD NO

JURISDICTION OVER THE CLAIMS AGAINST THE USMS AND
THE FPS

"It is well seftled that the United States is a sovereign, and, as such, is
immune from suit unless it has expressly waived such immunity and consented to
be sued." Gilbert v. DaGrossa, 756 F.2d 1455, 1458 (9th Cir. 1985). The court
must strictly construe in favor of the government the scope of any waiver of

sovereign immunity. Dept of the Army v. Blue Fox, Inc., 525 U.S. 255, 261 (1999).

14



Any claim for which sovereign immunity has not been waived must be dismissed
for lack of jurisdiction. Gilbert, 756 F.2d at 1458.

The Federal Tort Claims Act ("FTCA"), 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b), contains a
limited waiver of the United States’ sovereign immunity. See Vickers v. United
States, 228 F.3d 944, 948 (9th Cir. 2000). As a jurisdictional prerequisite to
bringing suit under the FTCA, a plaintiff must first file an administrative claim
with the offending agency, and the claim must be denied before filing in federal
court. Bla:ir v. IRS, 304 F.3d 861, 864-65 (9th Cir. 2002); Brads v. United States,
211 F.3d 499, 50203 (éth Cir. 2000).

Here, Appellants make no claim that they filed an administrative claim with
any agency. Indeed, they do not address the district court’s ruling on this issue at
all. Accordingly, Appellants may not rely on the limited watver of immunity in the
FTCA. For this reason, the district court properly dismissed the state-law tort
claims agéinst the agency defendants.

Further, the United States has not waived its immunity for constitutional
claims. Clemente v. United States, 766 F.2d 1358, 1362-64 (9th Cir. 1985) (Bivens
does not waive government's immunity). This is true for claims involving both
injunctive relief and damages. See United States v. Rural Elec. Convenience Coop.

Co., 922 F.2d 429, 434 (7th Cir. 1991) (jurisdictional bar of sovereign operates

15



when a suit threatens to impose liability for money or property damages or some

form of coercive injunctive relief upon United Stafes). Accordingly, the district

court alsoproperly dismissed these constifutional claims against the agency
defendants.

IIf. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THE
INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS ARE ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED
IMMUNITY
The defense of qualified immunity shields government officials "from

liability fdr civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly

established statutory or con-stitutional rights of which a reasonable person would
have known." Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982). Qualified immunity
protects "all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law."

Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986). Thus, defendants can have a

reasonable, but mistaken, belief about the facts or about what the law requires in

any given_situation. Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 202 (2001) (quoting Malley,

475 U.S. at 341).

| As noted by the district court, “[t]he entitlement is an immunity from suit
rather than a mere defeunse to liability; [and] . . . it is effectively lost if a case is

erroneously permitted to go to trial." Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 526

(1985). Thus, insofar as possible, a ruling on the issue of qualified immunity
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should be made early in the proceedings so that the costs and expenses of trial are ‘
avoided where the defense is dispositive. Saucier, 533 U.S. at 200.

Under the two-part a.nalyéis set forth i Saucier, the court must first examine
whether the officers violated the plaintiffs’ constitutional rights on the facts
alleged, and second, if there was a violation, must determine whether the
constitutional right or rights were clearly established. Saucier, 533 U.S. at 201. If a
plaintiff's allegations do not state a claim of violation of clearly established law, a
defendant pleading qualified imrr-lunity is entitlea to dismissal before the
commencement of discovery. Mitchell, 472 U.S. at 526; see also Butler v. San
Diego Dist. M’s Office, 370 F.3d 956, 964 (9th Cir. 2004).

Here, the district court properly concluded the individual defendants are
entitled to qualified immunity because Appellants failed to state a claim that their
constitutional rights were violated.

On appeal, Appellants provide very little in the way of argument to their
position that their constitutional righfs were violated. They state as folllows:

| Are thé [federal officers’] acts in demanding
identification a search? Is it in violation of clearly
established law decided in Brown v. Texas, [443 U.S. 47
(1979)], Kolander v. Larsen, [461 U.S. 352 (1983)];
Florida v. Royer, [460 U.S. 491 (1983)]; Carey v.
Nevada Gaming Authority [279 F.3d 873 (9th Cir.

2002)]? Even in Hiibel v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court of
Nevada, Humbolt City, [542 U.S. 177 (2004)] the

17



decision was; give a name 1f your suspected of
wrongdoing= but demanding documents is verboten.

AOB at Page 3a.

This argument is unavailing because the cases cited simply are inapplicable
to the situation before the court. The cases cited by Appellants deal with whether
an officer may arrest a person for failing to identify themselves. The cases do not,
however, preclude the government from ensuring that persons entering a
necessarily secure area can be identified. See United States v. Christian, 356 F3d
1103, 1106 (9th Cir. 2004) (“While failure to identify oneself cannot, on its own,
justify an arrest, nothing in our case law prohibits officers from asking for, or even
demanding, a suspect's identification.”) See also, United States v. Smith,425 F.3d
527 (2ud Cir. 2005) (govermnment does not violate First or Sixth Amendments to
the U.S. Constitution by enforcing rule requiring presentation of identification for
entry into federal courthouse).

There is no constitutiqnal right to enter federal buildings without presenting
identiﬁcaﬁion, let alone a clearly established one. Determining a person’s identity
is an important aspect of police anthority. Cf. Christian, 356 F.3d at 1106.
Appellants have failed to show otherwise.

For these reasons, the district court properly concluded Appellants failed to

demoustrate the individual defendants violated their clearly established
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constitutional rights and the defendants therefore were entitled to qualified
immunity. See, Saucier, 533 U.S. at 202.
CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm the judgment of the
district court dismissing the First Amended Complaint.
Respectfully submitted,

KEVIN V. RYAN
United States Attorney

F—

Dated: November 22, 2005 L A ) ~ _
ABRAHAM A. SIMMONS
Assistant United States Attorney
Attorneys for Defendants-Appellees
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